Washington State Supreme Court

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Jeffrey & Anna Wood Plaintiff/Appellant

V.

Dunn & Black P.S. & Robert A
Dunn
Defendant/Respondent.

APPELLANT PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jeffrey C. Wood Pro Se 21319 E. Harvard Vistas Ln. Newman Lake, Washington, 99025 (509) 991-7191 jwood@pvfworldwide.net Appellant

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Jeffrey & Anna Wood were as the Plaintiffs in the Spokane County Superior Court Cause No. 22-2-00741-32 and Appellants in <u>Jeffrey and Anna Wood v. Dunn & Black P.S. and Robert A. Dunn</u> 39934-6-III,

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Appellant seeks review of the written decision issued in Jeffrey Wood and Anna Wood v. Dunn & Black P.S. and Robert A. Dunn 39934-6-III, dated Sept. 19, 2004 and the order on Appellant's Motion to Consider additional evidence and for Reconsideration dated October 10, 2024.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. The Court of Appeals failed to apply the standard set forth by the Washington State Supreme Court in Spencer v Franklin Hill Case No. 102147-0 May 9 2024
- 3. The Court of Appeals failure to consider Respondent/Defendant's failure to present evidence, and assert false assertions under RPC 3.3 to the trial court and the appellate court for consideration clear shows a bias against

appellant.

- 4. The Court of Appeals erred in denying Appellant's motion in determining that the additional evidence presented for review violates RCW 23.95.450, RAP 9.11 and Articled 3 of the Washington State Constitution for the appellants right to due process.
- 5. The Court of Appeals erred when they dismissed/denied the motion for the additional evidence without any explanation, past rulings, or case precedent, authority in the name of judicial equity for the plaintiff.
- 6. Err in the Clerks office inputting additional evidence into the computer system incorrectly clearly benefitted the defendant/respondent.

IV. STATEMENT OF CASE

This Division III ruling is reviewable under RAP 13.4b(1,2). (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals;

On March 10, 2019 Mr. Jeffrey Wood acting Pro Se, hired 2 process servicing companies to provide process of servicing duties to the law firm Dunn & Black P.S. and Robert A. Dunn.

Mr. Wood acting Pro Se because he was unable to secure a legal malpractice attorney in Spokane as well as state -wide, Mr. Wood was engaged in a home construction law suit, a chapter 13 bankruptcy, and foreclosure, and lacked the experience to engage a servicing company firm for a proper service of process. As the 90 day service of process was due to expire, and defendant was clearly avoiding service of process, the plaintiff filed the Summons and Complaint with the Washington State Secretary of State Corporations Division as the statutory representative of the registered agent of the Dunn & Black Corporation. The summons and complaint was filed on March 10, 2022. The 90 day servicing deadline was June 10, 2022. Mr. Wood received an acknowledgment for the Washington State Secretary of State on June 3, 2022 that the complaint was received and filed under file number 31240. Plaintiff and the Defendant were both mailed copies of the acknowledgement from the Washington State Secretary of State's Corporate Division office. (Exhibit "A")

On October 25, 2022 Mr. Wood requested a CR 26(i) conference to discuss the defendant's objection to their submitted

Request for Admission regarding service, to discuss why the defendants didn't believe the service was not perfected per the email attachments plaintiff provided to the defendants counsel. (Exhibit "B") The email sent to defense counsel clearly included a copy of the acknowledgement from the Secretary of State which was attached to the email, and reply of the email was acknowledged by the defense counsel as received. (Exhibit B). The defendants counsel did not respond to plaintiff's request to a CR 26(i) conference, and instead proceeded with a CR56 Summary Judgment for dismissal for improper service of process. Defendant's motions was filed with the Superior Court on November 3, 2022. Although the defendants counsel will claim that anyone acting Pro Se is to be held to the same standards as a licensed, educated attorney. Mr. Wood contends this is not a reasonable assertion or law. Mr. Wood was caught off guard. Dealing with an elderly parent, law suit against an insurance company, foreclosure and chapter 13 bankruptcy, (most all stemming from this case of a legal malpractice lawsuit) and expected to write a motion to a CR 56 summary judgment for

improper service of process at the beginning of the upcoming holiday season, when Mr. Wood was under the impression service was proper by issuing the summons and complaint to the Washington State Secretary of State as an authorized entity for a corporations registered agent.

Mr. Wood was faced with securing some type of legal counsel to assist in this endeavor, and hired Mr. Ryan Best to author a response motion to a CR 56 summary judgment motion and, and to represent him in court. Mr. Wood acting Pro Se, and dealing with numerous other life's issues forgot about the acknowledgement letter from the Secretary of State acknowledging receipt of the summons and complaint on behalf of Dunn & Black P.S., and forgot to inform his acting attorney of the letter, which therefore was not presented to the trial court for consideration. Interesting enough the Defense counsel did not present this evidence to the trial court either. Defense will argue that the plaintiff didn't offer the evidence to the court. Mr. Wood asserts it was an oversight on his part, and would not have knowingly left out evidence that would have

attorney takes an oath to not withhold evidence from a trial court as well as an Appellate Court under RPC 3.3(a)(3). Defendant's attorney committed an unethical act, and violated the very code of ethics and oath they are required to uphold. Defense counsel was provided a copy of the acknowledgement letter from the Washington State Secretary of State's office as well as in an email attachment on October 25, 2022, (Exhibit "A" and "B") and elected to ignore a CR26(i) request, but went ahead and filed the CR 56 Summary Judgment with the trial court anyway without acknowledging this evidence and inserting it into their summary judgment brief.

Through the trial court proceeding, as well as the Appellate court process, not once did the defense bring forward the acknowledgement letter from the Washington State Secretary of State's office acknowledging receipt of the Summons and Complaint on June 1, 2022. This was 10 days prior to the 90 day service of process time afforded a plaintiff to provide service, and the defendant corporation consistently denied ever receiving the

summons and complaint.

Mr. Wood presented both servicing companies 2 copies of the summons and complaint. One to serve Dunn and Black P.S. (Corporation), and one copy to serve Robert A. Dunn (Individual). In the case of Spencer v Franklin Hill Health, Spencer did not send a registered letter or post notice in the newspaper. In Spencer v. Franklin Hill, Spencer also was also under the impression service was perfected. Washington State Court of appeals Division III Case No. 39934-6 June 1, 2023, and Washington State Supreme Court Case No. 102147-0 May 9, 2024 Mr. Wood acting Pro Se knew the defendants were avoiding service, and was not going to be served. Court of Appeals Division III Case No. 39934-6-III P.2-4 Mr. Wood then sent a copy of the summons and complaint to the Washington State government agency responsible for providing service to the corporations registered agent. It wasn't until after the Statute of Limitations ran out did Mr. Wood receive acknowledgments from the servicing companies that they were unable to serve the registered agent of Dunn and Black P.S. and Mr. Robert A. Dunn. But, Mr. Wood was still under the impression that service was

perfected by the Washington States Secretary of State's acknowledgment letter date June 1, 2022. The Secretary of States letter did not state "We accept this summons and complaint pending verification the summons and complaint was sent by certified letter to the defendant, or that a notice was posted in the newspapers as outlined under RCW 4.23.95.450". No conditions were noted for acceptance. **Exhibit "A"** The acknowledgement States,

"The undersigned here by states that they are the duly appointed and acting clerk in the office of the Secretary of State responsible for the receipt and the processing of the service of process documents under the Washington State statute RCW 23B.18.040 and or RCW 23.95.450 The summons and complaint was received, filed, and copies sent to Dunn & Black P.S. and Jeffrey and Anna Wood on June 3, 2022 prior to the June 10, 2022 90 day deadline. With this understanding and acknowledgement, the summons and complaint was received, and service was perfected.

V. ARGUMENT

Petitioner seeks review by the Washington State Supreme Court

pursuant to RAP 13.4b(1,2).

A. The Court of Appeals Division III was misinformed or the lack there of, because the Panel were not presented all the facts prior to their 19 page unpublished opinion September 19, 2024.

The opinion states: "The [defense] attorney asserted that the Woods never served process on either defendant". This is a false statement by no fault of the panel, as they were not presented with all the facts associated with this case. Appellant filed an additional evidence motion prior to this authored opinion, and through the processing by the court clerk's office failed to input the additional evidence into the computer correctly, and was not presented to the panel prior to the opinion. Attachment "E". A Reconsideration motion was filed September 27, 2024 under RAP 12.4 to formally request that the panel withdraw the filed opinion, and consider in light of the Appellant's motion, which addresses the crucial issue that would impact the panel's decision that the Appellant did not validly serve either defendants in time to toll the running of the statute of limitations.

The additional evidence presented should have rendered this complete opinion of September 19, 2024 immaterial. As the Appellant's motion clearly establishes, Defendant law firm Dunn & Black was served within 90 days of the filing of the Appellant Complaint. A costly and unfortunate err by the appellate clerk's office for Jeff and Anna Wood as well as the appellate court panel before authoring their September 19, 2024 unpublished 19 page opinion. Jeffrey Wood & Anna Wood v. Dunn & Black P.S. (Corporation) and Robert A Dunn (Individual) Case No. 39934-6-III September 19, 2024

B. The Court of Appeals Decision III Conflicts with the Appeals Court Division III and Washington State Supreme Court's opinion Spencer v Franklin Hill.

On November 3, 2022 Dunn and Black P.S. filed a motion to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction and insufficient service of process in the Spokane County Superior Court without presenting all of the evidence in their possession. On March 29th 2023 the Superior Court Granted Summary Judgment for improper service of process. Plaintiff filed a reconsideration

motion on April 10, 2023. The motion for reconsideration motion was denied on August 8, 2023. An appeal was filed with the Washington State Court of Appeals Division III on November 13, 2023. A request for oral arguments were requested, and originally granted. Upon Mr. Wood's preparation for oral Arguments Mr. Wood uncovered a document (Acknowledgement receipt for the filing of the summons and complaint) on behalf of the defendant Dunn and Black P.S. on June 1, 2022. A document of importance as it showed Dunn and Black had been perfectly served the summons and complaint as per RCW 23.95.450 in relation to the Appeals Court Division III and the Washington State Supreme Court's ruling in Spencer v Franklin Hill. Washington State Supreme Court Case No. 102147-0 May 9, 2024

Although the additional evidence was going to be presented in oral arguments scheduled for June 5, 2024 the court canceled (Exhibit C) the oral arguments hearing causing Mr. Wood to file an Affidavit of Jeffrey Wood, and an additional evidence motion under RAP 9.11 on May 21, 2024. *Jeffrey*

Wood & Anna Wood v. Dunn & Black P.S. (Corporation) and Robert A Dunn (Individual) Case No. 39934-6-III September 19, 2024 An acknowledgment letter was issued by the Appeals Court Division III court on May 24, 2024 to the plaintiff acknowledging receipt and delivery of the additional evidence to the panel for consideration. (Exhibit D) An opinion ruling was issued by the Appeals Court Division III on September 19, 2023. However, the panel in its written opinion did not noticeably address the additional evidence filed with the appellate court on May 21, 2024 and June 1, 2024. Mr. Wood contacted the appellate court, and his case manager only to find out, the additional evidence was inputted into the computer system incorrectly, and the additional evidence was not seen by the appellate panel before issuing their ruling on September 19. 2024. (Exhibit E) Mr. Wood was apologized to, and was ensured it was now in front of the panel for review. This mistake by the clerk's office was costly in time and effort to the Appellant under RAP 9.11. It is clear the appellate court took no time or interest to facilitate equity, or to consider the additional evidence

by authoring their half a page order denying (1) motion for consideration of the additional evidence on review, and (2) Motion for reconsideration. Washington State Appeal Court Division III Case No. 39934-6-III Dated Oct 10, 2024.

The Appellate erred in not doing their due diligence in the name of equity and Article 3 of the Washington State Constitution of due process. They did not consider that section a1, a2, a3 and a6, were clearly met under RAP 9.11. It is clear 4 of the 6 conditions were clearly met. One could argue all 6 elements were met. The appellate court erred by waiving all 6 elements of Rap 9.11 be satisfied, to serve the ends of justice. Washington State Appeal Court Division III Case No. 39934-6-III Dated Oct 10, 2024

The appellate erred in not sending the additional evidence (at the very least) back to the trial court under RAP 911 (b). This err is truly not equality of justice under the law. Even though under RAP 9.11(b)

"The appellate court will <u>ordinarily</u> direct the trial court to take additional evidence and find the facts base on that evidence".

This would have been (at a minimum) a fair equitable solution if

the appellate court just wanted to get this case off their desk. The ruling by the appellate court, was not equality under a law. *RAP* 9.11 This clearly aided the defense when the appellate court (without noticeably evaluating all of the evidence), found reason to dismiss the additional evidence for review. Mr. Wood's motion to supplement the record with the additional evidence filed a reconsideration motion to ensure appellants' right were protected. In this case the additional evidence was denied without siting any past case precedence, court rulings, or authority to collaborate this dismissal/denial.

It is clear the appellate court erred in not exploring, and fully considering the Washington State Supreme Court Ruling in Spencer v Franklin Hill when evaluating RCW 23.95.450 and siting "Lack of compliance with RCW 23.95.450 (1) through (3) renders the method of service outlined in RCW 23.95.450(4) unavailable to the appellant". Washington State Supreme Court Spencer v. Franklin Hill Health Case # 102147-0 May 9, 2024; It was clear RCW 23.95.450 (1) was not going to be accomplished no matter who was attempting to serve the

defendants. The defendant was an attorney and knew how to avoid service of process. Spencer v Franklin Hill was not even mentioned in their October 10, 2024 ruling of the Division III Appellate Court. Jeffrey Wood and Anna Wood v. Dunn & Black P.S. and Robert A Dunn. Washington State Appeals Court Division III Case No. 39934-6-III. October 10, 2024.

The Appellate Court erred when not considering the defense clearly withheld evidence from the trial court as well as the appellate court. A clear and egregious act of deception under RPC 3.3(a)(3) by the defendants. This is clearly not equity for the plaintiff.-The defendants assert "Defendants have made no attempt to bias the court or otherwise act improperly, so no relief under CR 50(a)(9) should be afforded." (CP 130 Ln 16-18) **Exhibit F).** This is an absolute false statement under RPC 3.3(a)(1)) asserted to the trial court by the defendants in this case. An officer of the Court requires candor under RAP 3.3(a)(3) towards the tribunal to not withhold from the Court evidence or legal authority that would impact the Court's consideration of motions or actions, even when the defendants

have stated both to the trial and appellate courts that "Neither Defendants were served". In this matter, a patently incorrect and misleading statement. Dunn admits that the Woods supplied them with the certificate before their motion for summary judgment, and do not deny receiving it from the Secretary of State, but failed at any time to bring it to the courts attention in this matter. Equity does not and should not reward a party for their own misdeeds or shortcomings.

The additional evidence presented to the Appeals Court was not fully considered. Although improper service of process cases seem (in more cases than not) to stem from the plaintiff not properly handing the summons and complaint to the proper individual with the authority to accept the serving from a servicing company. With that understanding, step 2 and 3 of RCW 23.95.45, Mr. Wood, and knowing personal service to Mr. Dunn was impossible to accomplish, and as well as Mr. Dunn being listed as the <u>registered agent</u> of the corporation was avoiding service. It is obvious Mr. Dunn was not making it easy for the server to perfect service, and as the defendant is also an

attorney, knew how to avoid the process of service. Even if Mr. Wood's hired a servicing company, and the servicing company handed the summons and complaint to someone other than the registered agent Mr. Robert Dunn, then Mr. Wood would most certainly be arguing to either the trial court or the appellate court that the process of service was proper, and the defense would argue it was not handed to the proper person. Case in point, Spencer v. Franklin Hill. Washington State Supreme Court Case No. 102147-0 May 9, 2024; It was Mr. Woods's belief, and thought process by mailing a copy of the summons and complaint to the Washington State Secretary of State Corporation Division, the very entity representing the registered agent of Dunn & Black P.S. Corporation, this would ensure it was received, and notification be sent to the registered agent of Dunn & Black P.S. a Washington State Corporation. As the evidence shows the summons and complaint was received, and filed under File No. 31240, with no conditions attached on June 1, 2022 acknowledgement by the Washington State Secretary of State. Exhibit A This acknowledgement left Mr. Wood with the

belief service was proper, and perfected. If there had been printed conditions of acceptance inserted into the acknowledgement of receipt from the Secretary of States letter of acceptance, Mr. Wood would have had 10 days to complete any additional requirements before the 90 day service period.

Although Defendants/Respondent argues that the literal language/requirements of RCW 23.95.450 were not met, and that the Washington State Supreme Courts recent decision in Spencer v. Franklin Hill Health-Spokane, LLC, __Wn2d___(Case No. 102127-0), does not "do not" with strict compliance of service of process statutes, the Defendants/Respondent as well as the Appellate fail to rebut the holding of Spencer that literal compliance with statutory service obligations should not always be the standard. Spencer v. Franklin Hill Health Case No. 102147-0 May 9, 2024 states,

"The purpose of service is to provide <u>due process</u>, which requires notice and an opportunity to be heard (citation omitted). We conclude that the service statute is to be <u>LIBERALLY</u> construed in order to effectuate the purpose of the statute while adhering to its spirit and intent.' Sheldon v Fettig, 129 Wn 2d 601, 607, 919 P 2d 1209 (1996); construing the service statute as to give

meaning to its spirit and purpose, guided by the principles of due process." Statutes that prescribe methods of service are the benefit of both the plaintiff and the defendant: The dual purpose of the statute is to (1) provide means to serve defendants in a fashion reasonably calculated to accomplish notice, and (2) allow injured parties a reasonable means to serve defendant.' Sheldon, 129 Wn.2d at 608.

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