FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/6/2025 1:46 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 1036094 COURT OF APPEALS NO. 399346

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Jeffrey & Anna Wood,

Petitioner.

v.

Dunn & Black P.S. and Robert A Dunn, an individual.

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jeffrey Downer, WSBA No. 12625 Daniel C. Mooney, WSBA No. 44521 Sara R. Shapland, WSBA No. 49775 Of Attorneys for Respondents

LEE SMART, P.S., INC. 1800 One Convention Place 701 Pike Street Seattle, WA 98101-3929 (206) 624-7990

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

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. The Woods fail to establish any basis under RAP 13.4(b) for this Court to accept review.

The Woods' Petition for Review does not present a proper basis for review by this Court. The Supreme Court's review of a Court of Appeals decision is an extraordinary step, and RAP 13.4(b) sets forth the only grounds under which a Court of Appeals decision will be reviewed. None of those grounds are adequately presented by the Woods, and therefore review should be denied.

B. Contrary to the Woods' contention, review is not warranted under either RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).

Pursuant to RAP 13.4, this Court will grant a petition for review only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with the decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with the decision of another division of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

The Woods claim review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). Pet. for Rev. at 8–9. However, this Petition should be denied because it fails to satisfy either.

Nothing in RAP 13.4, or in Washington law, entitles the Woods to review by this Court simply because they disagree with the Court of Appeals' decision:

RAP 13.4(b) does not allow review simply to correct isolated instances of injustice. The Supreme Court, in passing upon a petition for review, is not acting as a court of error, rather is functioning as the highest policy-making judicial body of the state. Its concern is with the general state of the law, not particular applications of it, whether involving the state constitution, statutory or regulatory law, or the common law.

Wash. Appellate Prac. Deskbook §18.2 (4th ed. 2016).

The Woods argue review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2), but the authority they cite in their Petition does not conflict with the Court of Appeals' decision in this matter. Furthermore, this case involves no constitutional

issues and there are no matters of substantial public interest that are implicated by this purely private dispute.

Furthermore, the Court of Appeals did not error in its consideration or handling of the additional evidence the Woods intended to offer for the first time on appeal.

1. The Court of Appeals' Opinion does not Conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court.

The Woods argue that the Opinion in this case conflicts with this Court's decision in *Spencer v. Franklin Hills Health-Spokane*, 3 Wn. 3d 165, 548 P.3d 193 (2024). *See* Pet. for Rev. at 10–19. In making their argument, the Woods erroneously rely on the Court's statement that "the service statute should be liberally construed 'in order to effectuate the purpose of the statue while adhering to its spirit and intent." *Id.* at 18–19, citing *Spencer*, 3 Wn. 3d. at 171.

However, liberal construction of the service statute, RCW 4.28.080 as required by *Spencer*, does not equate to departure from the plainly enumerated statutory requirements of

RCW 23.95.450, an entirely different statute that was not even analyzed by the *Spencer* court, as the Woods contend.

a. The decision in *Spencer* does not apply to this case.

The Court of Appeals' decision in this case does not conflict with *Spencer* because *Spencer* deals with an entirely different statute than the Woods rely on and is thus inapplicable to this matter. The issue presented by *Spencer* was whether the service that was completed on the defendant in that case complied with RCW 4.28.080(9) when a corporation's human resources manager *accepted* the summons and complaint. *Spencer*, 3 Wn. 3d. at 168 (emphasis added).

The Court in *Spencer* was operating under the framework of RCW 4.28.080(9), and explained:

As a whole, RCW 4.28.080(9) permits service not just on those in high positions in the corporation but, more broadly, to people in roles where they must understand the workings of the organization and know how to get important legal documents for the corporation into the hands of those who will need to act on them. For example, it authorizes service not only to obvious leadership positions in the organization, such as the

"president" or "registered agent," but also to that person's "secretary, stenographer or office assistant." RCW 4.28.090(9). . . The statute provides a wide-ranging list of suitable people to accept service on behalf of a corporation, and we liberally construe its terms to effect its purpose of accomplishing service of process and notice to the defendant.

Spencer, 3 Wn. 3d. at 171(citation omitted).

In the *Spencer* case it was an undisputed fact that a person was actually served with the summons and complaint on behalf of Franklin Hills Health-Spokane. *Id.* at 169. The issue was whether that individual, Franklin Hills' human resources manager, qualified as one of the individuals authorized to accept service of process on behalf of a company under RCW 4.28.090(9).

In contrast, in this case neither Mr. Dunn nor Dunn & Black, P.S., nor anyone else, were ever served a summons and complaint. The court of appeals had no obligation to evaluate whether a proper "managing agent" was served under RCW 4.28.090 when each and every declaration of service provided to the court established service never occurred. The

Spencer case, therefore, has no relevance to the issues before either the trial court or the court of appeals, and the decisions in this case do not conflict with it.

The court in *Spencer* did not discuss the applicability of RCW 23.95.450. Instead, it analyzed whether the service of process in that case complied with RCW 4.28.090.

The decisions in this case—those of the trial court and Division III—are therefore not in conflict with *Spencer*, because since no service on anyone had yet to occur, the trial court and the Court of Appeals did not yet need to evaluate whether the individual served met the definition of 'managing agent' under RCW 4.28.090.

b. The Woods fail to cite a conflicting Supreme Court Opinion related to RAP 9.11

The Woods' Petition for Review is, in essence, a request for this Court to overrule Division III's declination to consider new issues and evidence raised for the first time on appeal simply because they do not agree with the Court of Appeals'

decision. *See* Order Denying: (1) Motion for Consideration of Additional Evidence on Review, and (2) Motion for Reconsideration.

This is not a proper basis for acceptance of review under RAP 13.4 and the Woods cite no opinions of the Supreme Court or another court of appeals addressing RAP 9.11 that conflict with Division III's ruling. But even if it was a proper basis for acceptance of review, the Woods' claim still fails because the additional evidence would not change the outcome of the case. RAP 9.11(a)(2).

i. The Woods fail to meet the requirements of RAP 9.11.

The Court of Appeals properly denied the Woods' Motion for Consideration of Additional Evidence on Review. Only under extraordinary circumstances may the appellate court direct that additional evidence on the merits of the case be taken. *See* RAP 9.11. Under that rule, an appellate court may direct that additional evidence be taken where:

- (1) additional proof of facts is needed to fairly resolve the issues on review,
- (2) the additional evidence would probably change the decision being reviewed,
- (3) it is equitable to excuse a party's failure to present the evidence to the trial court,
- (4) the remedy available to a party through post judgment motions in the trial court is inadequate or unnecessarily expensive,
- (5) the appellate court remedy of granting a new trial is inadequate or unnecessarily expensive, and
- (6) it would be inequitable to decide the case solely on the evidence already taken in the trial court.

RAP 9.11(a). Under this rule, a party requesting the appellate court review additional evidence must satisfy all six conditions, or the request fails. *Wash. Fed'n of State Emps. Council 28, AFL-CIO v. State,* 99 Wn.2d 878, 885, 665 P.2d 1337 (1983). The Woods do not meet the requirements of that rule, in particular they cannot satisfy the second requirement outlined above, and therefore their request for consideration of additional evidence was properly denied.

ii. The evidence offered by the Woods does not satisfy the requirements of RCW 23.95.450 and thus would not have changed the outcome below has it been considered.

Again, in their Petition for Review, the Woods attach a letter from the Secretary of State addressed only to Jeffrey and Anna Wood. The letter, however, does not include any information about what documents were received by the Secretary of State or that they were mailed to Dunn & Black, P.S. It is merely a receipt sent to the Woods, which is insufficient to establish proper service.

This same letter was presented to the Court of Appeals, who analyzed the letter in the context of RCW 23.95.450, which requires the following must all be met:

- 1) A represented entity may be served with any process, notice, or demand required or permitted by law by serving its registered agent.
- 2) If a represented entity ceases to have a registered agent, or if its registered agent cannot with reasonable diligence be served, the entity may be served by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, or by similar commercial delivery service. The address of the principal

office must be as shown in the entity's most recent annual report filed by the secretary of state. Service is effected under this subsection on the earliest of:

- (a) The date the entity receives the mail or delivery by the commercial delivery service,
- (b) The date shown on the return receipt, if executed by the entity, or
- (c) Five days after its deposit with the United States postal service or commercial delivery service, if correctly addressed with the sufficient postage or payment.
- (3) If process, notice, or demand cannot be served on an entity pursuant to subsection (1) or (2) of this section, service may be made by handing a copy to the individual in charge of any regular place of business or activity of the entity if the individual served is not a plaintiff in the action.
- (4) The secretary of state shall be an agent of the entity for service of process if process, notice, or demand cannot be served on an entity pursuant so subsection (1),(2), or (3) of this section.

RCW 23.95.450(1)-(4).

The letter alone is insufficient to establish compliance with RCW 23.95.450. The Woods have submitted no evidence showing that prior to attempting service through the Secretary

of State they complied with subsections (1)–(3) and were unsuccessful.

While not written in detail, after review of the Woods' same argument in their Motion for Consideration of Additional Evidence, the Court of Appeals affirmatively stated, "Lack of compliance with RCW 23.95.450(1) through (3) renders the method of service outlined in RCW 23.95.450(4) unavailable to the appellants." *See* Order Denying: (1) Motion for Consideration of Additional Evidence on Review, and (2) Motion for Reconsideration.

The Court of Appeals analyzed the plain language of RCW 23.95.450 and determined that the legislature intended a Plaintiff utilize the options in order that is most to least likely give a Defendant notice of the lawsuit. RCW 23.95.450(4) clearly and unequivocally states "The secretary of state shall be an agent of the entity for service of process *if* process, notice, or demand *cannot be served on an entity pursuant to subsection*

(1), (2), or (3) of this section. RCW 23.94.450(4) (emphasis added).

The Court further stated that it "has considered appellants Jeffrey and Anna Wood's motion for consideration of additional evidence on review; respondents Dunn & Black, P.S., and Robert A. Black's answer; the declaration of Daniel C. Mooney in support of the respondent's answer; the appellants' reply, the appellants' motion for reconsideration of this court's September 19, 2024, opinion; and the record and file herein." *See* Order Denying: (1) Motion for Consideration of Additional Evidence on Review, and (2) Motion for Reconsideration.

Clearly, and contrary to the Woods' allegations in their Petition, the Court had available to it all information available to render a decision. Certainly, if the Court of Appeals was persuaded that *Spencer* allows complete departure with plain language of a statute, they would have ruled accordingly. The

Woods now simply take issue with the decision because he does not agree with the outcome.

However, the Woods cite no Supreme Court decision that is contrary to the Court of Appeals' finding that in order to utilize service via secretary of state the Woods must first have shown an inability to proceed under RCW 23.95.450(1)–(3). RAP 13.4(b)(1) clearly requires a conflicting Supreme Court Decision to warrant acceptance of review. No such case exists in this matter and therefore, review should be denied.

2. The opinion in this matter does not conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals.

The Woods argue that under RAP 13.4(b)(2), review is warranted because the decision in this case conflicts with Division III's unpublished decision in *Spencer v. Franklin Hills Health-Spokane*, 26 Wn. App. 2d 1053 (2023) (unpublished). Pet. for Rev. at 11. In making this argument, the Woods cite the unpublished court of appeals opinion that was entered in *Spencer* prior to acceptance of the Supreme Court's review.

The Woods are incorrect. RAP 13.4(b)(2) provides a basis for review only if the decision under review conflicts with a published decision of a court of appeal. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(2) ("[I]s in conflict with a *published* decision of the Court of Appeals[.]") (emphasis added).

Given that the Court of Appeals' decision in *Spencer* was unpublished, notwithstanding the fact that there is no conflict as discussed *supra*, any alleged conflict between it and the decision in this case cannot serve as a basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(2). Furthermore, there is nothing in the Court of Appeals' decision that requires consideration or review given that the decision was already reviewed by this Court.

3. The Woods do not argue that grounds for review exist under RAP 13.4(b)(3)&(4).

The Woods have asserted grounds for Supreme Court review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (2) only. *See* Pet. for Rev. at 8–9. They do not offer any argument or authority in support of any other basis for this Court to accept review. Therefore, the

Woods concede that review is not warranted under either RAP 13.4(b)(3) or (b)(4). And they are correct.

RAP 13.4(b)(3) clearly does not apply to this case as the case does not involve any question under either the Washington or United States constitution. Although the Woods make a passing reference to the Court of Appeals denying them due process by not considering certain evidence submitted for the first time on appeal (Pet. for Rev. at 13), they offer no meaningful argument or analysis on the issue and cite to no case supporting their argument. As such, this Court should decline to consider the issue. See Nelson v. Duvall, 197 Wn. App. 441, 460, 387 P.3d 1158 (2017) ("Passing treatment of an issue or lack of reasoned argument is insufficient to merit judicial consideration."), citing Palmer v. Jensen, 81 Wn. App. 148, 153, 913 P.2d 413 (1996).

RAP 13.4(b)(4) also does not apply. For a substantial public interest to exist, the Woods must show "the particular issue has ramifications beyond the particular parties and the

particular facts of an individual case." *Wash. Appellate Prac. Deskbook* §18.2(3) (4th ed. 2016). Detailed analysis of the "substantial public interest" criterion of RAP 13.4(b)(4) is scant, but this Court weighed what amounts to "public interest" when considering the related question of whether to decide a moot issue:

When determining the requisite degree of public interest, court should consider (1) the public or private nature of the question presented, (2) the desirability of an authoritative determination for the future guidance of public officers, and (3) the likelihood of future recurrence of the question.

In re Mines, 146 Wn.2d 279, 285, 45 P.3d 535 (2002) (internal quotation marks omitted). Dept. of Ecology v. Adsit, 103 Wn.2d 698, 705, 694 P.2d 1065 (1985) (en banc); Sorenson v. City of Bellingham, 80 Wn.2d 547, 558, 496 P.2d 512 (1972). Where the Court has directly addressed the "substantial public interest" criterion of RAP 13.4(b)(4), it has used these principles. State v. Watson, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005).

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